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MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of Myconostica 1s the development, commerciahsation and supply of molecular diagnostic
products to aid rapid and accurate diagnosis of life-threatening fungal infections i humans

The company was acquired by Lab 21 Limited on 19 May 2011 The company intends to transfer 1ts trade as part of
the mtegration of the busimess mto the wider group 1n 2012

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

As shown 1n the consolidated income statement on page 9, the group’s turnover amounted to £317,526 (2010 -
£124.498), whilst the group incurred a loss before tax of £3,479,266 (2010 - loss of £2,174,748) for the year

During the year a review of tangible and intangible fixed assets was undertaken This resulted in the £174,548
disposal of leasehold improvements and annual hcence fees and development costs with a net book value of £90,760
being charged to the income statement (see notes 10 and 11 to the financial statements for further details)

Prior to the acquisiion by Lab 21 Limited, the company 1ssued loan notes to certain shareholders for total cash
consideration of £1,055,000 These loan notes were redeemable, following a change of ownership, at a 200%
premium Following the acquisition by Lab 21 Limited, the loan notes were novated to Lab 21 Limited at an amount
equal to the principal and redemption premium Accordingly, this resulted in a £2,160,000 finance cost to the
company n the year Furthermore, Lab 21 Limited recorded the issue of shares to the Myconostica Limited
shareholders as part of its cost of acquisitton, accordingly, this gave rise to a capital contribution, amounting to
£3,165,000 which was recorded directly through the company’s reserves

As shown 1n the consolidated balance sheet on page 10, net assets amounted to £500,069 (2010 - £800,854)

The directors do not recommend payment of a dividend (2010 £mil)

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The principal KPI of the business in the year was the management of cash resources While this KP1 deinonstrates
relevant factors by reference to which the development, performance and position of the business can be measured
effectively, 1t 15 1n the nature of the business that these KPIs are not readily or meaningfully comparable year on
year simply as a measure

Cash management KPI

The cash management KPI, bemg the operational cash consumed in the business 1s as follows ‘Operational cash
consumed 1n the business’ 1s defined by reference to the cash flow statement as bemg the addition of ‘Net cash
outflow from operating activities’ and the purchase of tangible and intangible assets

2011 2010
£ £
Operational cash consumed 1n the business 811,878 1,785,637

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The acquisition of Myconostica was a key part of Lab 21 Limited’s business strategy to expand 1ts proprietary
diagnestic portfohio

The company will continue to manufacture and sell mgh-quality and cost-effective diagnostic reagents to other
chagnostic companies, to be included in their own range of related products as bulk reagents or i kit format The
products will be marketed and sold through Lab 21 Limited’s worldwide sales and distribution channels
Furthermore the Myconostica mtellectual property and know-how will be commercialised as part of Lab 21
Limited’s partnering with key customers mn the development and supply of fungal diagnostic products




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The products business was transferred to Lab 21 Healthcare Limted on 1 January 2012

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details of the authorised and issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the company's 1ssued
share caputal during the year are shown 1n note 21

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by
the general provisions of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation The directors are not aware of any
agreements between holders of the company's shares that may result 1n restrictions on the transfer of secunties or on
voting rights

Details of employee share schemes are set out n note 21
No person has any special rights of control over the company's share capital and all 1ssued shares are fully paid

With regard to the appomntment and replacement of directors, the company s governed by 1its Articles of
Association, the Companies Act and related legislation The Articles themselves may be amended by special
resolution of the shareholders

Under 1ts Articles of Association, the company has authonity to issue 2,390,000 ordinary shares

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The group faces various nisks and regularly assesses their potential impact and steps to mitigate them The key risks
are broadly grouped as follows

Dependence on key executives and personnel

Myconostica’s success 1s substantially dependent on retaming and incentivising senior management and certain key
employees The loss of the services of key personnel could have an adverse impact on the divisions’ business Such
key employees could leave their division for a variety of reasons and Myconostuca therefore ensures all key
management and executives are appropriately incentivised

Competitive risks
Losing major contracts

Lab2! trades with a number of major diagnostic manufacturers who distribute and brand Lab21 products n key
markets and there is always the possibility of losing a major contract However, the main products sold through this
route are considered market leading diagnostic assays and Lab21 1s growing this business with expanded
distribution in US and European markets

Legislative risks

The manufacturing, marketing and use of the group's products are subject to regulation by government and
regulatory agencies in many countries served by Myconostica Of particular importance 15 the requirement to obtain
and maintain approval for a product from the applicable regulatory agencies to enable Myconostica’s products to be
marketed Approvals can require chnical evaluation of data relating to safety, quality and efficacy of a product
Myconostica seeks to mitigate regulatory risk by conducting its operations within recognised quality assurance
systems and undergoes external assessment to ensure compliance with these systems As the group grows,
significant investment 1n guality systems will continue




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Financial risks
Interest rate risk

The group has used debt as a part of its funding strategy and, as such, 1s exposed to fluctuations n interest rates
However, interest rates are typically fixed over the term of the loan as part of the loan agreement

Liquidity and cash flow risk

Liquidity risk 1s the nisk that the group will have difficulties 1n meeting financial obligations while cash flow nisk 15
the risk that variability in cash flows creates a short term problem with availability of cash These risks are mitigated
by managing cash at both divisional and group level through the use of regularly updated forecasts Cash collections
are closely montored and compared to previous months n order to 1dentify adverse trends and target a particular
customer or type of customer

The group supplies products and services to many countries around the world, and as such, faces nisks associated
with non-collection of debts or extended credit terms Other measures taken include upfront pro forma receipts,
deposits, credit insurance and letters of credit

GOING CONCERN

The company 15 a subsidiary of Lab2l Limited The Lab21 Limited group (the “Group™) 1s financed by a
combination of debt and equity Under the terms of the debt financing with Clydesdale Bank plc (“Clydesdale™),
which was finalised m June 2012, there are a number of covenants with which the Group 1s required te comply on a
consolidated basis, together with cross guarantees between companies within the Group

The financial covenants mclude a requirement to maintain total cash balances in excess of a specified “cash floor”
and to achieve certamn levels of revenue on a quarterly, rolling 12 monthly basis

The directors have prepared a cash flow forecast (“the Forecast”) for the period ending 31 December 2014 The
Forecast represents the directors’ best estimate of the Group’s future performance and necessanly includes a number
of assumptions, including the level of sales and the impact of the continued uncertam economic environment

The Forecast also includes an assumption that additional equity funding, totalhng $1,000,000 (£625,000) will be
secured 1n two equal tranches in September and December 2012 This 1s also a condiion subsequent of the
Clydesdale term loan

In October 2012, Lab21 Inc signed two financing agreements, for an amount of $250,000 each, of which $250,000
has already been received

In the event that Lab21 does not succeed 1n raising this additional equity funding, the cash floor would be breached
The directors have therefore prepared a sensitivity scenario, under which the forecast level of discretionary
expenditure 15 reduced in order to avoid breaching the cash floor covenant The directors consider that such
mitigating actions would be straight forward to implement and would not adversely impact on Lab2!’s overall
strategy Accordingly, they do not consider that this constitutes a material uncertainty around the ability of the
Group to continue as a going concern

This Forecast therefore demonstrates that the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to
meet 1ts Liabilities as they fall due and comply with the financial covenants, for a period of at least 12 months from
the date of approval of these financial statements

On the basis of the above factors and, after having made appropriate enquines, the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue 1n operational existence for the foreseeable future
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

DIRECTORS
The directors who served during the year, and to the date of this report unless otherwise stated, were as follows
Prof D W Denning (resigned 19 May 2011)

K Deusch (Non-executive)

R Dickhardt (Non-executive)

D Evans (Non-executive}
D Holbrook {Non-executive)

(resigned 19 May 2011)
(resigned 19 May 2011)
(resigned 21 March 2011)
(resigned 22 March 2011)

S D Lowther (appointed 19 May 2011)
R C E Morgan (Non-executive) (resigned 19 May 2011)
G M Mullis (appointed 19 May 2011)
J Rousseau (Non-executive) {resigned 19 May 2011)
J R Thornback (resigned 19 May 2011)
J H Whittingham (resigned 19 May 2011)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with Internauenal Financial Reporung
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union Under company law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company
and of the profit or loss of the company for that period In preparing these financial statements, International
Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors

properly select and apply accounting pohcies, and

. present information, including accounting policies, n a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable
and understandable information, and
) provide additional disclosures when comphance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are msufficient to

enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's
financial position and financial performance, and
. make an assessment of the company's ability to continue as a going concern

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other wrregularities




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

AUDITOR
Each of the persons who 1s a director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that

e so far as the director 1s aware, there 1s no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor 1s
unaware, and

e the director has taken all the steps that he/she cught to have taken as a director to make himself’herself
aware of any relevant audit ;nformation and to estabhsh that the company’s auditor 18 aware of that

information

Thes confirmation s given and should be interpreted m accordance with the provisions of 418 of the Companies
Act 2006

Deloitte LLP were appornted as auditor duning the year and have expressed their wallingness to continue m office as
audilor A resolution to reappoint them as auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meetng

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on 1ts behalf

S8 Houws Fes>-

S D Lowther
Director
Date 31 October 2012




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of Myconostica Limited for the year ended 31 December 2011 which
compnise the Consohdated Income Statement, the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Comprehensive
Income, the Consolidated and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Conschdated and Parent Company Cash Flow
Statements, the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity and the related notes 1 to 48
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 1s applicable law and” International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent company
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006

This report 1s made solely to the company’s members, as a body, 1n accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Compamies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explamed more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view OQur responsibility
1s to audnt and express an opimon on the financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s
Ethtcal Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit mvolves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the parent
company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In
addition, we read all the financial and non-financia! mmformation in the annual report to identify matenal
mnconsistencies with the audited financial statements [f we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opmion

e the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended,

e the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
Eurcpean Umion,

s the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared tn accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Umion and as apphed in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, and

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opmion the information given in the Directors” Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 15 consistent with the financial statements

Matters oo which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to
you tf, 1n our opinion

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us, or
the parent company financial statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

e 52—

Stuart Henderson (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Cambridge, United Kingdom

2 nddses ot




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2011

2010
(Restated -
2011 note 5)
Note £ £
Revenue 6 317,526 124,498
Cost of sales (99,686) (24,338)
Gross profit 217,840 100,160
Research and development expenses (413,937) (927,497
Selling, marketing and distribution expenses (209,634) (289,427)
Restructuring costs (234,628) -
Admimistrative expenses
Disposal of property, plant & equipment (216,696) -
Impairment of intangible assets (90,760) -
Dilapidation costs (50,000} -
Other (370,007) (1,053,189)
Operating loss on ordinary activities before
financing costs 7 (1,362,494) (2,169,953)
Finance income 9 605 2,245
Finance costs 9 (2,117,377) (7,040)
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (3,479,266) (2,174,748)
Tax on loss on ordinary activities 10 (9,096) 194,559
Loss for the financial year (3,488,362) (1,980,189}
All activities in the current year derive from continuing operations
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2011
2011 2010
£ £
Loss for the financial year (as previcusly reported) (3,488,362) (1,977,875)
Prior period adjustment (note 5) - (2.314)
Loss for the financial year as restated (3,488,362) (1,980,189)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations net of
mcome tax 18,517 7,161
Tota! comprehensive loss for the year (3,469,845) (1,973,028)




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
31 December 2011

Note
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 11
Intanpgible assets 12
Total non-current assets
Inventories 14
Trade and other recervables 15
Cash and cash equivalents 16
Total current assets
Taoatal assets
Laabihhes
Borrowings 17
Long-term provisions 19
Other non-current Labilines 20
Total non-current liabilities
Borrowings 17
Trade and other payables 18
Total current habilities
Total liabslities
Net assets
Equity
Issued capital 21
Share premuum
Reserves

Retained loss

Total equity attributable to equity holders

2010

{Restated -

2011 note 5)
£ £

63,912 348,847
251,170 367,755

315,082 716,602

34,651 86,441
464,286 298,332
73,792 211,292

572,729 596,065

887,811 1 312,667

- (7,524)
(50,000) -
(87.116)  (282,738)

(137,116} (290,262)

~

(8.704) {10,000)
(241,922)  (211,551)

(250,626) (221,551}

(387,742)  (511,813)

500,069 800,854

106,547 162,547
8,725,411 8,725,411
3,165,060 -

(11,496,949) (8 027,104)

500,069 800,854

The financial statements of Myconostica Limited, registered number 5693850, were approved by the Board of

Directors and authonsed for issue on 31 October 2012

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

G s P L VA

G D Mullis

Director




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year ended 31 December 2011

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the year

Adpustmenis for

Depreciation

Amortisation

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment of intangible assets

Fmance income

Finance cost

Income tax expense

Operating cash outflow before changes in
working capital and provisions

(Increase) decrease 1n trade and other
receivables

Decrease (increase) i inventories

Decrease 1n trade and other payables

Increase in provisions

Cash used by operations
Income tax credits receivable

Net cash outflow from operating activities

Investing activities

Interest recerved

Interest paid

Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of intangible assets
Intercompany loan

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

New loans

Repayment of borrowings

Net proceeds on 1ssue of shares

Repayment of obligation under finance lease

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net deerease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of year

Effect of foreign exchange

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
year

Note

2010
(Restated -
2011 note 5)
£ £
(3,488,362) (1,980,189}
Il 69,240 107,561
I2 33,146 51,387
216,696 -
90,760 -
9 (605) (2,245
9 2,117,377 7,040
9,096 (194,559)
(952,652) (2,011,005)
(4,466) 12,013
51,790 (8,406)
(181,161) (33,094)
50,000 -
(1,036,489) (2,040,492)
2144135 312,256
(822,074 (1,728,236)
605 2,245
(2,907) (2,630)
(595) -
(7,321) (64,562)
(373,500) -
(383,718) (64,947)
1,055,000 -
(8,820) (11,433
4,000 972,934
- (858)
1,050,180 960,643
(155,612) (832,540)
211,292 1,036,671
18,112 7,161
73,792 211,292




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2011

Balance at 1 January 2011
Prior period adjustment

Balance at 1 January 2011
(restated)

Loss for the financial year
Gain on translation of foreign
balances net of income tax
Issued share capital
Capital contribution

Balance at 31 December 2011

Balance at 1 January 2010 (as
previously reported)
Prior period adjustment

Balance at 1 January 2010
(restated)

Loss for the financial year
Gain on translation of foreign
balances net of income tax
Issued share capital

Share 1ssue cost

Balance at 31 December 2010
(restated)

Note

21

Note

Share
Share premium Retained
capital account Reserves loss Total
£ £ £ £ £
135,601 8,725,411 - {8,027,104) 833,508
(33,054) - - - (33,054)
102,547 8,725,411 - (8,027,104) 800,854
- - - (3,488,362) (3,488,362)
- - - 18,517 18,517
4,000 - - - 4,000
- - 3,165,060 - 3,165,060
106,547 8,725,411 3,165,060 (11,496,949) 500,009
Share
Share premium Retained
capital account loss Total
£ £ £ £
126,178 7,761,900 (6,054,076) 1,834,002
(33,054) - - (33,054)
93,124 7,761,900 (6,054,076) 1,800,948
- - (1,980,189) (1,980,189)
. - 7,161 7,161
9,423 990,587 - 1,000,010
- (27,076) - (27,076)
102,547 8,725,411 (8,027,104) 800,854

The £3,165,060 capital contribution movement on reserves (2010 £mil) relates to the waiver of intercompany loans
with respect to the novation of Myconostica Limited shareholder loans to Lab 21 Limted

12




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2011

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Mycenostica Limited 15 a limited company incerporated 1n England and Wales The principal place of
busiress and registered office 1s 184 Cambridge Science Park, Cambridge, CB4 OHG The nature of the
company’s operations and 1ts principal activities are set out m Principal Activity and Business Review
section of the directors’ report on page | The immediate and ultimate parent company 1s Lab 21 Limited, a
company tncorporated in England and Wales

These financial statements are presented m pounds sterling as that 1s the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the company operates

2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND CURRENT STANDARDS

In the current year, the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted Thewr
adoption has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these financial statements but may
impact the accounting for future transactions and arrangements

Improvements to [FRSs 2010 (May Improvements to IFRSs 2010

2010)
IAS 24 (revised Nov 2009) Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures for First-
time Adopters
IAS 24 (revised Nov 2009) Related Party Disclosures

Amendment to [AS 32 (Oct 2009} Classification of Rights Issues
Amendment to [AS 32 (Oct 2009) Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which
have not been applied in these financial statements were 1n 1ssue but not yet effective (and 1in some cases had
not yet been adopted by the EU)

IFRS 1 (amended) Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-Time
Adopters

IFRS 7 (amended) Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabiities

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 11 Jomnt Arrangemenis

IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entitres

IFRS 13 Fawr Value Measurement

1AS 27 Separate Financial Statements

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Jomnt Ventures

1AS 12 (amended) Deferred tax Recovery of underlying assets

IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

IAS 19 (amended) Empioyee Benefits

IAS 32 (amended) Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

IFRIC Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

The adoptton of IFRS 9 which the company plans to adopt for the year beginning on 1 January 2013 will
impact both the measurement and disclosures of Financial Instruments

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the other standards hsted above witl have a material impact
on the financial statements of the company 1n future periods

13




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2011

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted for use in the European Union

The financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention, modified for certain items
carried at fair value, as stated 1n the accounting policies The principal accounting poehicies adepted are set
out below

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year Control 1s achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as te obtamn
benefits from 1ts activities

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included m the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropnate Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies
used into hine with those used by the group All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on conselidation

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein Those
mterests of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling thewr holders to a
proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may imitially be measured at far value or at the non-
controlling interests” proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets The choice
of measurement 1s made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis Other non-controlling interests are initially
measured at farr value Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling intetests 1s the
amount of those interests at imitial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes
in equity Total comprehensive income 1s attributed to non-controlling interests even 1f this results 1n the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidianies that do not result 1n a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions The carrying amount of the Group’s wnterests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes n their relative interests in the subsidiaries Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlhing interests are adjusted and the far value of the consideration paid or
recerved 1s recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal 1s calculated as the difference
between (1) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration recetved and the fair value of any retained
interest and (1) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), less habilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling nterests Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (1e reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to
retained earnings) n the same manner as would be required 1f the relevant assets or hiabilities are disposed of
The fair value of any mvestment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control 1s lost 1s regarded
as the fair value on mitial recogmtion for subsequent accountmng under [AS 39 Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the costs on 1nitial recognition of an investment n an
associate or jointly controlled entity




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2011

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Going Concern

The company 15 a subsidiary of Lab21 Lumited The Lab21 Limited group (the “Group™) 1s financed by a
combination of debt and equity Under the terms of the debt financing with Clydesdale Bank plc
(“Clydesdale™), which was finalised n June 2012, there are a number of covenants with which the Group 15
required to comply on a consolidated basis, together with cross guarantees between compames within the
Group

The financial covenants mnclude a requirement to maintain total cash balances 1n excess of a specified “cash
floor” and to achteve certain levels of revenue on a quarterly, roiling 12 monthly basis

The directors have prepared a cash flow forecast (“the Forecast”) for the period ending 31 December 2014
The Forecast represents the directors’ best estimate of the Group’s future performance and necessarily
includes a number of assumptions, including the level of sales and the impact of the continued uncertain
economic envirenment

The Forecast also includes an assumption that additional equity funding, totalling $1,000,000 (£625,000) will
be secured in two equal tranches in September and December 2012 This 1s also a condition subsequent of the
Clydesdale term loan

In October 2012, Lab21 Inc signed two financing agreements, for an amount of $250,000 each, of which
$250,000 has already been received

In the event that Lab21 does not succeed in raising this additional equity funding, the cash fioor would be
breached The directors have therefore prepared a sensitivity scenario, under which the forecast level of
discretionary expenditure 1s reduced mn order to avoid breaching the cash floor covenant The directors
constder that such mitigating actions would be straight forward to implement and would not adversely impact
on Lab21’s overall strategy Accordingly, they do not consider that this constitutes a matenal uncertainty
around the ability of the Group to continue as a going concem

This Forecast therefore demonstrates that the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be
able to meet 1ts Liabilities as they fall due and comply with the financial covenants, for a period of at least 12
months from the date of approval of these financial statements

On the basis of the above factors and, after having made appropnate enquiries, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue 1 operational existence for the
foreseeable future Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report
and accounts

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method The consideration
for each acquisition 1s measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given,
liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments 1ssued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree Acquisition-related costs are recognised m profit or loss as incurred

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or hability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value Subsequent changes in
such fair values are adjusted agaimnst the cost of acquisihon where they qualify as measurement penod
adjustments (see below) All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified
as an asset or Liability are accounted for in accordance with relevant [FRSs Changes in the fair value of
contingent consideration classified as equity are not recogmsed

Where a business combination 15 achieved 1n stages, the Group’s previously-held nterests in the acquired
entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (1e the date the Group attains control) and the
resulting gain or loss, 1f any, 1s recognised n profit or loss Amounts ansing from nterests n the acquiree
prior to the acqusition date that have previously been recogmised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate 1f that interest were disposed of
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The acquiree’s 1dentifiable assets, liabilities and contingent habilities that meet the conditions for recognition
under [FRS 3 (2008) are recogrsed at their fawr value at the acquisition date, except that

e deferred tax assets or liabilities and habilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recogmsed and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and 1AS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively,

o habilities or equity mstruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based
payment awards are measured n accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, and

« assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale m accordance with [FRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard

If the 1itial accounting for a business combination 1s incomplete by the end of the reporting period 1n which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the tems for which the accounting 13
incomplete Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or
additional assets or liabilities are recogmised, to reflect new nformation obtammed about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acqusition date that, 1f known, would have affected the amounts
recognised as of that date

The measurement peried 1s the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete
information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, and 15 subject to a
maximum of one year

Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts
recelvable for goods and services provided 1n the nermal course of busimess, net of discounts, VAT and other
sales-related taxes

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods 1s recogmsed when all the following conditions are satisfied

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant nsks and rewards of ownership of the goods,

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial mmvolvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold,

e  the amount of revenue can be measured rehably,
s it1s probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, and
s the costs incurred or to be incurred 1n respect of the transaction can be measured reliably

Provision of research services & development and supply agreements
Revenue from a contract to provide services 1s recogmsed by reference to the stage of completion of the
contract The stage of completion of the contract 1s determuined as follows

e installation fees are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the installation, determined
as the proportion of the total time expected to install that has elapsed at the balance sheet date,

e  servicing fees included in the price of products sold are recogmised by reference to the proportion of
the total cost of providing the service for the product sold, taking to account historical trends in the
number of services actually provided on past goods sold, and

e revenue from time and material contracts is recognised at the contractual rates as labour hours are
dehivered and direct expenses incurred
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(continued)
Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee All other leases are classified as operating leases

The group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the group at thewr fair value or, if lower, at the
present value of the mummum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease The
corresponding hiability to the lessor 1s included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the hiability Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
caprtalised n accordance with the group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see below) Contingent rentals
are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-hine basis over the term of the
relevant lease except where another more systematic basis 1s more representative of the ume pattern m which
economic benefits from the lease asset are consumed Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recogmsed as an expense n the period in which they are incurred

In the event that lease ncentives are received to enter nto operating leases, such incentives are recognised as
a hability The aggregate benefit of incentives 1s recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line
basis, except where another systematic basis 1s more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed

Foreign currencies

The mndividual financial statements of each group company are presented n the currency of the primary
economic environment in which 1t operates (its functional currency) For the purpose of the consohdated
financial statements, the results and financial position of each group company are expressed i pounds
sterling, which 1s the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated
financial statements

In preparing the financial statements of the indvidual companies, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevaihing on the
dates of the transactions At cach balance sheet date, monetary assets and habilities that are denominated m
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date Non-monetary items carried at far
value that are denominated 1n foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevaihing at the date when the fair
value was determined Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated

Exchange differences are recogmised in profit or loss 1n the period in which they arise except for

. exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future
productive use, which are included 1n the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment
to 1nterest costs on those foreign currency borrowings,

) exchange differences on transactions entered nto to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see below
under financial instruments / hedge accounting), and

. exchange differences on monetary 1tems receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement 15 neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment 1n the
foreign operation), which are recogmsed initally in other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equuity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the net investment

17




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2011

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and labiliies of the group’s
foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used Exchange differences
arising, 1f any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (attributed to non-
contrelling 1nterests as appropriate)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (1 e a disposal of the Group’s entire interest 1 a foreign operation, or a
disposal mvolving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control
over a jointly controlled entity that cludes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over an
associate that mcludes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that
operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss

Operating loss

Operating loss 15 stated after charging restructuring costs and after the share of results of associates but
before investment income and finance costs

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due
Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax

Current tax

The tax currently payable 1s based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported In the income statement because 1t excludes items of mcome or expense that are taxable or
deductible i other years and 1t further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible The group’s
lability for current tax 1s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and habihities 1n the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit, and 1s accounted for using the balance sheet lability method Deferred tax habilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recogmsed to the extent
that 1t 1s probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be
utihsed Such assets and habihities are not recognised if the temporary difference anises from the niual
recogmtion of goodwill or from the mitial recogmtion (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities 1n a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit

Deferred tax habilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments 1n subsidiaries
and associates, and 1nterests in joint ventures, except where the group 1s able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and 1t 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that 1t 1s no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered

Deferred tax 1s calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply 1n the period when the hability 15 settled
or the asset 15 reahised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted at the balance sheet date Deferred
tax 1s charged or credited in the income statement, except when 1t relates to items charged or credited (n other
comprehensive income, 1n which case the deferred tax 1s also dealt with 1n other comprehensive income
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable nght to set off current tax
assets agamnst current tax habilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authonty and the Group ntends to settle its current tax assets and habilities on a net basis

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation, net of depreciation and any provision for
impairment

Depreciation 1s provided on all property, plant and equipment at rates calculated to write off the cost or
valuation, less estimated residual value, of each asset on a straight-line basis over 1ts expected useful hife as
follows

Laboratory and office equipment 20 0% straight line
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 10 0% straight hine
Computer equipment 33 3% straight line

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes 1n
circumstances 1ndicate the carrying value may not be recoverable

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities 1s recognised as an expense in the period in which 1t 1s incurred

An intemally-generated mniangible asset ansing from the company’s product development 1s recogmsed only
if all of the following conditions are met

e an asset is created that can be identified,

e the project from which the asset arises meets the company’s critena for assessing techmeal
feasibility,

e 1t1s probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits, and
s the development cost of the asset can be measured rehably

Internally-generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over thewr useful hves Where no
mnternally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure 1s recognised as an expense
in the period i which 1t 1s incurred

Patents and trademarks

Patents and trademarks are measured tmtially at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over
thetr estimated useful lives

Impairment of tangible and mtangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there 1s any indication that those assets have suffered an impaurment loss If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 1s estimated to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (1f any) Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs An ntangible asset
with an idefinite useful Iife 1s tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there 1s an indication
that the asset may be impaired

Recoverable amount 1s the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value 1 use In assessing value n use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the nisks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) 15 estmated to be less than uts carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 1s reduced to 1ts recoverable amount An
impairment loss 1s recogmsed immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset 1s carried at a revalued
amount, 1n which case the impairment loss 15 treated as a revaluation decrease

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 1s
mcreased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or cash-generating umit) 1n prior years A reversal of an impawrment loss 1s recogmsed immediately
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset 15 carmied at a revalued amount, 1n which case the reversal of the
impamrment loss 15 treated as a revaluation increase

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out
basis Net reahisable value 1s based on the estimated sales price after allowing for all further costs of
completion and disposal Provision 1s made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropriate

Financial instruments
Financial Assets

All financial assets are recogmsed and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial
asset 1s under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the imeframe established
by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those
financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, which are imitially measured at fair value

Financial assets are classified ito the following specified categories financial assets ‘at fair value through
profit or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-matunity’ mvestments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans
and recewvables’ The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and 1s
determined at the time of 1mtial recognition

Effective interest method

The effective nterest method 1s a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period The effective interest rate 15 the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or recerved that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected lhife of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on imtial recognition

Income 1s recognised on an effective interest basis for debt imstruments other than those financial assets
classified as at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset 15 either held for trading or 1t 15
designated as at FVTPL

A financial asset 15 classified as held for trading 1f

. it has been acquired pnincipally for the purpose of selling 1n the near term, or

. on minal recogmition 1t 15 a part of a portfoho of identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, or

. 1t 15 a dervative that 1s not designated and effective as a hedging instrument
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial mstruments (continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon mitial
recognition 1f

. such designation elminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition mconsistency that
would otherwise arise, or

. the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which 1s
managed and its performance 1s evaluated on a fair value basis, 1n accordance with the Group's
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping 1s provided
internally on that basis, or

. it forms part of a contract contaiming one or more embedded derivatives, and 1AS 39 Financral
Instruments Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or habihty} to
be designated as at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gams or losses ansing on remeasurement
recognised 1n profit or loss The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and 1s included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in the income
statement

Held-to-maturity investments

Bills of exchange and debentures with fixed or determunable payments and fixed matunty dates that the
Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments
Hetd-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any
impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis

Available for sale financial assets (AFS)

Listed shares and listed redeemable notes held by the Group that are traded 1n an active market arc classified
as being AFS and are stated at fair value The Group also has investments in unhsted shares that are not
traded 1n an active market but that are classified as AFS financial assets and stated at fair value (because the
directors consider that fair value can be reliably measured) Gamns and losses arising from changes in fair
value are recogmised 1n other comprehensive income and accumulated 1in the nvestments revaluation reserve
with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign
exchange gans and losses on monetary assets, which are recogmsed directly in profit or loss Where the
investment 15 disposed of or 1s determined to be impaired, the cumulative gamn or loss previously recognised
th the nvestments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss

Dividends on AFS equity mstruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends 1s established

The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated 1n a foreign currency 1s determined 1n that foreign
currency and transiated at the spot rate at the balance sheet date The foreign exchange gains and losses that
are recogmsed n profit or loss are determined based on the amortised cost of the monetary asset Other
foreign exchange gatns and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
n an active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’ Loans and receivables are measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment Interest income 1s recogmsed by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immateral
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fimancial instruments (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly hquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes n value

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impawment at each balance sheet
date Financial assets are impaired where there 1s objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the mutial recogmition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
mvestment have been affected

For listed and unhsted equity investments classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged dechne n the fair
value of the securnty below 1ts cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment

For all other financial assets, including redeemable notes classified as AFS and finance lease recervables,
objective evidence of impairment could include

« significant financial difficulty of the 1ssuer or counterparty, or
« default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, or
« 1t becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation

For certamn categories of financial asset, such as trade recervables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of recervables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments n the portfolio past the average credit period of 60 days as well as
observable changes n national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on recervables

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment 15 the differences between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate

The carrying amount of the financial asset 1s reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount 1s reduced through the use of an
atlowance account When a trade receivable 1s considered uncollectible, 1t 15 written off against the allowance
account Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised n profit or loss

When an AFS financial asset 1s considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period

With the exception of AFS equity instruments, 1f, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurning after the rmpairment was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 1s reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment 1s reversed does not exceed what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recogmsed 1n profit or loss are not reversed

through profit or loss Any increase 1n fair value subsequent to an impairment loss 1s recognised in other
comprehensive ncome
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fimancial instruments (continued)
Reclassification of financial assets

The Group has reclassified certain non-derivative financial assets out of held for trading (part of the FVPTL
category) to AFS financial assets Reclassification 1s only permitted m rare circumstances and where the asset
1s no longer held for the purpose of selling in the short-term In all cases, reclassifications of financial assets
are limited to debt mstruments Reclassifications are accounted for at the fair value of the financial asset at
the date of reclassification

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when 1t transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to anaother entity 1f the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises 1ts retained interest i the asset
and an associated habihity for amounts it may have to pay If the Group retains substantially atl the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received

Financual liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial labilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangement

Equity instruments

An equity mstrument 1s any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its hiabilines Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct 1ssue costs

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, 1t 15 probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation

The amount recognised as a provision 1s the best estimate of the constderation required to settle the present
obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account the nisks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation Where a provision 1s measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount 1s the present value of those cash flows

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable 1s recognised as an asset 1f 1t 1s virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured rehably

Restructurings

A restructuring provision 1s recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the
restructuring and has raised a valid expectation n those affected that 1t will carry out the restructuring by
starting to 1mplement the plan or announcing 1ts main features to those affected by it The measurement of a
restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures ansing from the restructuring, which are those
amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuning and not associated with the ongoing activities
of the entity
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share based payments

The company has apphed the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment In accordance with the
transittonal provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002
that were unvested at 1 January 2005

The company’s parent company 1ssues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees Equity-
settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting
conditions) at the date of grant The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments 1s expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the company’s esumate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions

Fair value 15 measured by use of a binomial model The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and
behavioural considerations

A hability equal to the portion of the goods or services received 1s recognised at the current fair value
determuned at each balance sheet date for cash-settled, share-based payments

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the apphcation of the company’s accounting policies, which are described 1n note 3, the duectors are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and habihuies
that are not readily apparent from other sources The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant Actual results may differ from these
estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-goimng basis Rewvisions to accounting
estimates are recogmsed in the period 1in which the estimate 1s revised 1f the revision affects only that period,
or n the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods

Cruical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies

There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving esuimations (which are dealt with separately
below), that the directors have made 1n the process of applying the company’s accounting pelicies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerming the firture, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below

Recoverabihity of intangible assets

During the year, the directors completed an assessment of the recoverability of the company’s ntangible
assets, those assets which the directors assessed to have both a £m value n use and £ml net realisable vatue
were fully impaiwred The recoverability of the remaining assets 1s based on the directors’ estimate of their
value 1n use, which 1s calculated by reference to the forecast level of discounted future cash flows
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5. RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR PERIOD

The financial statements include a prior period restatement in relation to the classification of the A Preference
shares In prior periods, the A Preference shares were accounted for as a compound financial mstrument,
which mncluded both debt and equity components The cumulative 7% dividend was also spht, on a pro rata
basis, between a dividend on the debt component (accounted for as a finance charge) and a dividend on the

equity component (accounted for directly through equity)

Following the acqmsition By Lab21 Limited m the year, the directors reviewed the accounting treatment of
the A Preference shares and concluded that they did not contain an equity component

The resulting corrections to the prior periods are summansed 1n the following tables

Consolidated income statement (extracts)

Finance costs
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation
Loss for the financial year

Consohidated balance sheet (extracts)

Other non-current habilifies:
Shares classed as financial liabilities (see note 21)

Total non-current liabihties
Total habilities

Net assets

Issued capital

Total equity attributable to equity holders year

31 k]| 31

December December December

2010 2010 2010

As reported Adjustment Restated

£ £ £

(4,726) (2,314) (7,040)

(2,172,434) (2,314) (2,174,748)

{1,977,875) (2,314) (1,980,189
31 3 31

December December December
2010 2010 2010

As reported Adjustment Restated

£ £ £

(29,946) (33,054) (63,000)

(257,208) (33,054) (290,262)

(478,759) (33,054) (511,813)
833,908 (33,054) 800,854
135,601 (33,054) 102,547
833,908 (33,054) 800,854
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3. RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR PERIOD (continued)

Cash flow statement (extracts)

31 3 3
December December  December
2010 2010 2010
As reported Adjustment Restated
£ £ £
Loss for the year (1,977,875) (2,314) (1,980,189)
Cash flows from operating activities
Finance cost 4,726 2,314 7,040
Operating loss before changes in working
capital and provisions (2,011,005) 2,314 (2,008,691)
6. REVENUE
An analysis of the group’s revenue 1s as follows
2011 2010
£ £
Product sales
UK 26,194 38,253
Rest of Europe 106,131 41,280
Rest of the World 3,873 8,959
Provision of research services
UK 1,000 11,351
Rest of Europe - 24,655
Development and supply agreements
Rest of the World 180,328 -
317,526 124,498
Finance income 605 2,245
318,131 126,743
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OPERATING LOSS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE FINANCING COSTS

2011 2010
£ £
Operating loss on ordinary activities before financing costs 1s
after charging:
Research and development expenses (excluding staff costs) 196,360 283,417
Staff costs (note 8) 262,825 1,056,432
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 65,240 107,561
Amortisation intangible assets 33,146 51,387
Net foreign exchange losses 17,175 3,085
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 216,696 -
Impairment of intangible assets 90,760 -
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 94,722 21,035
Restructuring costs 234,628 -
Dilapidation costs 50,000 -
Auditor’s remuneration
- Fees payable for the audit of the company’s annual accounts 10,250 8,920
Operating lease rentals
- plant and machinery 7,500 -
- other 114,892 95,690
STAFF COSTS AND DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
2011 2010
£ £
The aggregate staff costs were as follows:
Wages and salaries 235,588 917,927
Compulsory social security contributions 16,541 104,402
Contributions to defined contribution scheme (484) 27,329
Other benefits 11,180 6,774
262,825 1,056,432
No. No.
The average monthly number of persons employees during the
year was as follows:
Finance and administration 3 5
Research and development 5 7
Commercial 2 2
Operation and quality 3 9
13 23
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8

STAFF COSTS AND DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

2011 2010
£ £
Directors’ remuneration
Emoluments from qualifying services 44,705 177,449
Payments to defined contribution scheme 4217 6,300
Private health insurance - 1,818
Compensation for loss of office 41,250 -
90,172 185,567
No No
The number of directors accruing retirement benefits was as
follows-
Defined contribution scheme 1 2

In September 2009 the company entered 1nto an arm’s length agreement with Amphion Innovations US, Inc
(“Amphion”) for the services of Mr Jerel Whittingham, the company’s Executive Chairman prior to his
resignation on 19 May 2011, for a monthly fee of £5,000 The total amount paid to Amphion during the year
in respect of these services amounted to £10,000 (2010 - £67,738), including £ml 1n respect of recharged
expenses (2010 - £7,838)

Richard Morgan 1s a director of Amphion Innovations US, Inc and Jerel Whittingham 1s a director of
Amphion Innovations Plc

Director’s emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value of options to acquire
ordinary shares of £0 01 each i the company granted to or held by the directors Details of options over
ordnary shares of £0 01 each for directors who served during the period are as follows

Period in
which
exercisable
At 31 At 31 m normal
December December Exercise circums-
2010 Termnated 2011 price tances
Jerel Whittingham
Unapproved Options 2,500 (2,500) - £001 2008-2018
David Evans
Unapproved Options 20,000 (90,000) - £0601  2010-2020
John Thornback
EMI Options 30,000 (30,000) - £001  2007-2017
EMI Options 16,500 (16,500) - £040 2009-2019
46,500 (46,500) -
Total 139,000 (139,000) -
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8.

STAFF COSTS AND DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

In addition, Amphion had options over the following shares

Nil (2010 - 130,887) B preference shares of £0 01 each with an exercise price of £0 916674, of
which 49,087 were exercisable 1n normal circumstances to 2014 and 81,800 exercisable i normal
circumstances to 2017,

Nil (2010 - 5,980) B preference shares of £0 01 each with an exercise price of £2 00, which were
exercisable in normal circumstances to 2014 and 81,800 exercisable 1n normal circumstances to
2015,

N1l (2010 - 75,000) C preference shares of £0 01 each with an exercise price of £2 00, which were
exercisable 1 normal circumstances to 2014 and 81,800 exercisable 1n normal circumstances to
2018,

Nil (2010 - 77,060) C preference shares of £0 01 each with an exercise price of £2 20, which were
exercisable in normal circumstances to 2014 and 81,800 exercisable 1n normal circumstances to
2013, and

Nil (2010 - 100,818) D preference shares of £0 01 each with an exercise price of £0 01, with no
expiration date

FINANCE INCOME - NET

2010
(Restated -
2011 note §)
£ £
Interest income
Interest receivable on bank balances 605 2,245
Total interest receivable 605 2,245
Interest expense
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans (356) -
Dividend pavable on shares classed as financial habilities (4,410) (4,410)
Interest payable on shareholder loans (2,110,060) -
Interest payable on other loans (1,159 (2,630)
Other interest (1,392) -
Total interest payable (2,117,377} (7,040)
Finance income - net (2,116,772) (4,795)
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10. TAX ONLOSS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

2011 2010
£ £
Current taxation
United Kingdom corporation tax at 26 5% (2010 - 21%) - (213,511)
Under provision In prior years 9,096 18,952
Tax charge (credit) on loss on ordinary activities 9,096 (194,559}

Factors affecting the tax credit for the year

The tax assessed on the loss on ordmary activities for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation
tax in the UK The differences are explamed below

2010
(Restated -
2011 note 5)
£ £
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (3,479,266) (2,174,748)
Loss on ordinary activities multiplied by the blended standard rate
of corporation tax m the UK of 26 5% (2010 - 21%) (922,005) (456,697)
Effect of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes - 10,320
Accelerated capital allowances 74,346 18,337
Additional 75% allowance for qualifying research and development
expenditure - (137,257)
Difference n rate for research and development rehef - 106,756
Under provision In prior years 9,096 18,952
Losses carried forward 850,633 245,030
Other timing differences (2,974) -
Tax charge (credit) for the year 9,096 (194,559)

In March 2011, the UK Government announced a reduction n the standard rate of UK corporation tax to
26% effective 1 April 2011 This rate reduction was substantively enacted in March 2011

In March 2012, the UK Government announced a reduction tn the standard rate of UK corporation tax to
24% effective 1 April 2012 and to 23% effective 1 April 2013 These rate reductions became substantively
enacted in March 2012 and July 2012 respectively The UK Government also proposed to further reduce the
standard rate of UK corporation tax to 22% effective 1 April 2014, but this change has not been substantively
enacted

The effect of these tax rate reductions on the deferred tax balance will be accounted for in the period in which
the tax rate reductions are substantively enacted
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
fixtures and
fittings,
office and
Laboratory computer
equipment  equipment Total
£ £ £
Cost
At 1 January 2010 367,668 277,157 644,825
Exchange difference - 7,917 7917 \
At 1 January 2011 367,668 285,074 652,742 |
Addiions : 595 595
Disposals (110,806) (286,475) (397,281)
Exchange difference - 806 806
At 31 December 2011 256,862 - 256,862
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2010 140,984 54,747 195,731
Charge for the year 73,534 34,027 107,561 !
Exchange difference - 603 603
At 1 January 2011 214,518 89,377 303,895
Charge for the year 58,760 10,480 69,240
Disposals (80,328) (100,257) (180,585)
Exchange difference - 400 400
At 31 December 2011 192,950 - 192 950
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2011 63,912 - 63,912

At 31 December 2010 153,150 195,697 348,847

The net book value of furniture, fixtures and fittings, office and computer equipment includes an amount of
£ml (2010 - £1,480) held under finance leases The depreciation charge relating to finance leases 15 £mil
(2010 - £930)

During the year a review of fixed assets was undertaken

In Myconostica Limited £33,603 leasehold improvements that had been classified as furmture, fixtures and
fitings were disposed of as part of the office relocation from Manchester to Cambridge A review of fixed
assets resulted in the disposal of £23,115 assets with a net book value less than £2,000 and £17,191 assets
that were umidentified or not 1n use

An early surrender of the Myconostica USA Inc premises lease was negotiated in the year The original
agreement to July 2018 at USD 48,000 per annum, was terminated 1n July 2011 The landlord waived
dilapidations and took the bulding back on an ‘as 15’ basis This resulted in the £140,945 disposal of
leasehold improvements that had been classified as furniture, fixtures and fittings and the £1,842 disposal of
items with a net book value less than £2,000
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Trademark Product
Patents Licences registrations development Total
£ £ £ £ £

Cost
At 1 January 2010 167,334 263,197 37,708 27,247 495,486
Additions 15,647 23,970 446 24,499 64,562
At 1 January 2011 182,981 287,167 38,154 51,746 560,048
Additions 6,670 651 - - 7,321
Disposals - (152,576) - (51,746) (204,322)
At 31 December 2011 189,651 135,242 38,154 - 363,047
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2010 21,032 106,580 7,833 5,461 140,906
Charge for the year 0,642 32,079 3,292 9,374 51,387
At 1 January 2011 27,674 138,659 11,125 14,835 192,293
Charge for the year 6,641 19,236 3,292 3,977 33,146
Dhisposals - (94,750) - (18,812) (113,562)
At 31 December 2011 34315 63,145 14,417 - 111,877
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2011 155,336 72,097 23,737 - 251,170
At 31 December 2010 155,307 148,508 27,029 36,911 367 755

Patents are amortised over their remaining estimated useful lives, which currently are, on average, 5 years
(2010 - & years) Patent costs are only amortised once an application has been published At 31 December
2011 patent costs amounting to £122,875 (2010 - £166,205) were not being amortised as the applications
were awaiting publication

Licences are amortised over their remaning estimated useful lives, which currently are, on average, 7 years
(2010 - 8 years) Licences relate to rights to utulise underlying patent technology Licence costs are
amortised over the period to date of expiry of the underlying patents Where a licence relates to the period to
several underlying patents, unless the cost can be allocated to individual patents, costs are amortised over the
period to date of expiry of the first to expire patent

During the year annual licence fees with a net book value of £57,826 and development costs with a net book
value of £32,934 were charged to the profit and loss

Amortisation and impairment charge

The amortisation charge 1s recognised in the following items n the income statement

2011 2010
£ £
Administrative expenses 33,146 51,387
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13.

14,

15.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
At 31 December 2011 the group had an unprovided deferred tax asset

The following are the temporary differences for which the group has not recognised deferred tax due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams, based on the expected future tax rate for the group of 25% (2010 -

21%)
2011
£
Accelerated capital allowances 13,698
Tax value of short term timing differences (235

Tax value of UK tax losses carried forward

2010
£

40,259
(42,007)

(2,056,536) (i,061,502)

(2,043,073} (1,063,250)

As at 31 December 2011 the group has available for offset against future profits UK tax losses amounting to

£8,226,144 (2010 £5,056,533)

INVENTORIES
2011 2010
£ £
Raw matenals 34,651 55,978
Work In progress - 2,627
Fimished goods - 27,836
34,651 86,441
During the year £94,722 (2010 - £24,338) cost of inventory was recognised m cost of sales
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2011 2010
£ £
Trade receivables - 33,603 14,857
Other receivables 14,850 19,266
Prepayments 40,833 50,698
Research and development tax credits receivable - 213,511
Amounts due from group undertakings 375,000 -
464,286 298,332
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15.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
As at 31 December 2011 the group had an allowance for doubtful debts amounting to £481 (2010 - £mil)

All trade and other receivables are short term, have a maturity of six months or less and are non-interest
bearing No disclosure of fair value 1s required as the carrying amount 1s a reasonable approximation of fair
value

The average credit penod taken on sales of goods 1s 39 days (2010 - 46 days) No nterest 1s charged on the
recervables Trade receivables that are past due are provided for based on estimated wrrecoverable amounts
determined by reference to past default experience or 1f there 1s an indication that the amount receivable may
be impaired

The group 1s exposed to credit risk from the granting of trade credit for sales to customers The group
mitigates this credit nisk by obtaiming payments 1n advance from customers or by the customer providing a
letter of credit as the method of payment

Included 1n the group’s trade receivables balance are debtors (see below for aged analysis) which are past due
at the reporting date for which the group has not provided as there has not been a sigmificant change 1n the
credit quality and the amounts are s}l considered recoverable The group does not hold collateral over these
balances

Ageing of past due but not impaired receivables 1s as follows

2011 2010

£ £

31-60 days 11,970 671
61-90 days 5,803 2,882
More than 90 days 9,850 1,433
27,623 4,986

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the group and short term deposits with an original term of
three months or less and interest 1s calculated by reference to LIBOR  The carying amounts of these assets
approxmmates to their fair value As such no disclosure of fair value 1s required

Credit nisk

The credit nisk on hiqud funds and derivative financial instruments 1s hmited because the counterparty,
Santander UK plc, 1s a bank with a high credit rating
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16

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Capital and hquidity risk management

The group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern  An explanation of
the company's capital structure 1s given in the relevant section of the Directors’ Report

Externally imposed capital requirement
The group 13 not subject to externally imposed capital requirements

Categories of financial instruments

2011 2010
£ £

Financial assets
Loans and receivables 423,453 34,123
Cash and cash equivalents 73,792 211,292

497,245 245415

Financial habilities
Amortised cost 236,896 163,771

The directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial habihties recorded at
amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values

Financial risk management objectives

Lab 21 Limited manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group, including Myconostica
Limited, through nternal risk reports which analyse exposure to risk by likelihood and magnitede

Exposure to foreign exchange risk and the use of financial instruments 15 monitored The group does not
enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes

Market risk

The group’s activities expose 1t primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates
and interest rate risks The group does not use derivative financiat instruments to manage its exposure to
nterest rate risk Cash deposits are made with the group’s bankers at the market rates prevailing at inception
of the deposit for the period and currency concerned

35




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2011

16

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Foreign currency risk management

The group undertakes certamn transactions denominated in foreign currencies Hence, exposures to exchange
rate fluctuations anse Exchange rate exposures to US dollar and Euro exchange rates are managed by using
US dollar and Euro denominated bank accounts

The carrying amounts of the group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary habilihes
at the reporting date are as follows

Liabihities Assets
2011 2010 2011 2010
£ £ £ £
US dollars 33,511 20,726 35,393 1,842
Euros 21,813 9,774 29,432 15,990
55,324 30,500 64,825 17,832

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The followmg table details the group’s sensitivity analysis to a 10% increase in the value of sterling against
US dollars and the Euro 10% 1s the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to
management and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates A positive number below indicates an increase in profit, a negative number indicates a reduction n
profit

US dollars Euros
2011 2010 2011 2010
£ £ 3 £ £
Profit or loss (171) 1,717 (693) (565)

The group 1s not materially exposed to changes 1n exchange rates

Interest rate risk management

The group 15 not exposed to interest rate risk as 1t had no interest bearing financial habilities at either balance
sheet date The group receives interest on its cash and cash equivalents

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for hquidity nsk management rests with the Lab 21 Limited board of directors, which
has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the group’s short,
medium and long-term funding and hquidity management requirements The group manages hquidity rnisk by
maimtaining adequate reserves, banking facihities and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and habilines
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17.

18.

BORROWINGS

2011 2010

£ £

Secured borrowing
Alliance & Leicester Small Firms Guarantee Scheme Loan 8,704 17,524
Total borrowings
Amount due for settlement within 12 months 8,704 10,000
Amount due for settlement after 12 months - 7,524

In September 2007 the group entered into a loan agreement with the Alliance & Leicester Bank under the
Small Firms Guarantee Scheme The total facility, subject to the group achieving certain commercial
mulestones, was £250,000 and as at 31 December 2011 {(and 31 December 2010) £50,000 had been borrowed,
with £8,704 outstanding at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010 £17,524) As security the Alhance &
Leicester has registered a Debenture with a fixed and floating charge over the company’s assets The
Alliance & Leicester facility expired on 8 May 2009 without the company achieving the commercial
milestones to allow any further drawdowns although the sums already drawn down did not become repayable
on demand

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2011 2010

£ :

Trade creditors 108,637 59,357
Amounts due to group undertakings 1,500 -
Other taxes and social security 4,000 63,304
Corporation tax 10,000 -
Accruals and deferred imncome 116,473 86,890
Other creditors 1,312 -

241,922 211,551

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and on-going
costs The average credit period taken for trade purchases 1s 92 days (2010 - 23 days) and these are non-
interest bearing

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to thewr fair value, as such no
disclosure of fair value 1s required

37




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2011

19.

20.

PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES

Dilapidations

provision

£

At ] January 2011 -
Additional provision 1n the year 50,000

At 31 December 2011 50,000

The dilapidations provision relates to obhgations to make good dilapidations existing at 31 December 2011
It 1s expected that the related cash outflows will be incurred in the next financial year

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

2010

{Restated -

2011 see note 5)

£ £

Accruals - 200,032
Cumulative dividend payable in ‘A’ preference shares 24,116 19,706
Shares classed as financial hiabilities (see note 21) 63,000 63,000

87,116 282,738

Non-current accruals £n11 (2010 £200,032) represent amounts payable 1n more than two years but not more
than five years under the terms of various patent licences and a bonus accrual payable to a director

The cumulative dividend on ‘A’ preference shares 1s payable on 7 July 2015 or, if earlier, on a date of a
change n controlling interest or listing (on a recogmsed investment exchange) of the company’s shares

38




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2011

21,

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised

89,917,000 ordinary shares of £0 01 each
1,260,000 A Preference shares of £1 each
2,382,000 B Preference shares of £0 01 each
10,700,000 C Preference shares of £0 01 each
5,000,000 C1 Preference shares of £0 01 each
5,000,000 D Preference shares of £0 01 each
1,000 M ordinary shares of £0 01 each

Issued and fully paid

2,411,139 ordinary shares of £0 01 each

63,000 A Preference shares of £1 each

100 B Preference shares of £0 ¢1 each

5,489,383 C Preference shares of £0 01 each

2,753,058 (2010 - 2,353,058) D Preference shares of £0 01 each
1,000 M ordinary shares of £0 01 each

Amounts presented n equity

2,411,139 ordinary shares of £0 01 each

100 B Preference shares of £0 01 each

5,489,383 C Preference shares of £0 01 each

2,753,058 (2010 - 2,353,058) D Preference shares of £0 01 each
1,000 M ordinary shares of £0 01 each

Amounts presented tn habilities
29,946 A Preference shares of £1 each

2010

(Restated -

2011 note 5)

£ £
899,170 899,170
1,260,000 1,260,000
23,820 23,820
107,000 107,000
50,000 50,000
50,000 50,000
10 10
2,390,000 2,390,000
24,111 24,111
63,000 63,000
1 1
54,894 54,894
27,531 23,531
10 10
169,547 165,547
24,111 24,111
1 1
54,894 54,894
27,531 23,531
10 10
106,547 102,547
63,000 63,000

During the year 400,000 ‘D’ preference shares with aggregate nominal value of £4,000 were 1ssued for £0 01

each
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SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The A preference shares are not redeemable and nor are they convertible into ordinary shares They are
entitled to receive a fixed cumulatve preferential net cash dividend (“the A preference shares dividend”) at
the rate of 7% per annum calculated daily on the 1ssue price of any such A preference shares but they are not
entitled to any further or other right of participation n the profits of the company The accumulated A
preference share dividend 1s payable in full, to the extent that the company 1s lawfully able, on 7 July 2015
or, if earlier, on the date of a change of controlling interest or histing (on a recognised stock exchange) of the
company’s shares In the event of a listing only, 1f the holders of the A preference shares (acting by majority)
shall elect by giving nouice 1n writing to the Board at least 15 business days prior to completion of the hsting,
n lieu of payment by the company of some or all of the A preference share dividend, the holders of the A
preference shares shall be entitled to subscribe for such number of shares (of such class as ts te be admitted to
listing) at par as when multiplied by the anticipated or recommended price per share on the hsting will equal
the amount of A preference share dividend to be taken by the holders of the A preference shares in hieu of
payment

The A preference shares are valued at the fair value of mtangible assets received in exchange, which have
been valued by the directors and the Unmiversity of Manchester

The B preference shares are convertible at any time 1f the holders of at least 75% n nominal value of the B
preference shares notfy the company, and are convertible automatically immediately on a listing, nto
ordinary shares on the basis of 1 ordinary share for 1 B preference share

The C preference shares are convertible at any time 1f the holders of at least 75% in nominal value of the C
preference shares notfy the company, and are convertible automatically immedately on a listing, nto
ordmary shares on the basis of 1 ordinary share for 1 C preference share

The CI preference shares are convertible at any time 1f the holders of at least 75% 1n nominal value of the C1
preference shares notify the company, and are convertible automatically immediately on a bsting, mto
ordinary shares on the basis of | ordinary share for 1 C1 preference share

The D preference shares are convertible at any tume 1f the holders of at least 75% 1n nominal value of the D
preference shares notify the company, and are convertible automatically immediately on a histing, nto
ordinary shares on the basis of 1 ordinary share for 1 D preference share

In the event that there 15 a sale of all or substantially all of the company or 1ts assets, or a listing of the
company’s shares on a recognised stock exchange, which values the company at £15,000,000 or above, the
company will declare and, subject to it being lawfully able, will pay to the holders of the B preference shares
an aggregate special dividend equivalent to between 0 75% and 1 75% of the company valuation the precise
percentage 15 dependent on the overall company valuation The special dividend will be divided amongst the
holders of the B preference shares pro rata to the number of shares held by them, subject to an aggregate
maximum amount of £2,000,000

The holders of the ordinary shares and the B, C, C1 and D preference shares are each entitled to receive
notice of, to attend and speak, and to vote, at any general meetings of the company The holders of the A
preference shares and M ordinary shares are entitled to receive notice of, to attend and speak, but not to vote,
at any general meetings of the company

M ordinary shares are not convertible into ordinary shares, carry no right to receive notice of or to attend any
general meeting of the company and shall not be transferable without the consert of the company On a
capital reduction or winding up the holders of M ordinary shares shall be entitled, 1n the event of a return on
capital, to receive an amount equal to the amount paid for the M ordinary shares held by them at the ume
such shares were allotted In some circumstances (in the event of an exit on a Sale or Liquidation Event, as
defined mn the Company’s Articles) the Holders of M ordinary shares shall be entitled to receive
consideration
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21.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Subject to the provisions of Article 2 1 (D) on a return of capital following a Sale or Liquidation Event the
Available Assets or Sale Proceeds (as applicable) shall be applhied amongst and distributed to, the Holders of
shares in the following order of prionty

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

First 1n paying to the Holders of the B preference shares, the C preference shares, the C1 preference
shares, and the D preference shares pari passu as 1f the same constituted one class of share the Issue
Price paid therefore together with any declared and unpaid dividends in respect thereof,

Second 1 paying to the Holders of the ordinary shares the next £500,000 in aggregate out of such
surplus assets, to be divided between them pro rata their holdings of ordinary shares,

Third, 1n paying to the holders of the A preference shares the Issue price paid therefore together with
any declared and unpaid dividends in respect thereof,

Fourth, 1f applicable, in paying the Holders of M ordinary shares such amount as may become due
and payable in accordance with Schedule 2,

Thereafier the balance of such assets (if any) shall be distributed amounts the Holders of the
ordmary shares, the B preference shares, the C preference shares, the Cl1 preference shares, and the
D preference shares par1 passu by reference to the number of such shares held by them as a
proportion of the aggregate number of such shares then in 1ssue, as 1f the same constituted one class
of share

Share options

Details of share options in existence at 31 December 2011 are as follows

At 31 At 31
December December Exercise
2010 Granted Terminated 2011 price

EMI Options 30,000 - (30,000) - £0 01
EMI Options 1,000 - (1,000} - £0 40
EMI Options 58,000 - (58,000} - £0 40
EMI Options 37,081 - (37,081) - £0 40
EMI Options 89,500 - (89,500} - £0 06
EMI Options 63,000 - {63,000) - £0 06
Unapproved Options 2,500 - (2,500) - £0 01
Unapproved Options 90,000 - (90,000) - £001
Unapproved Options (1) 130,887 - (130,887) - £09166743
Unapproved Options 50,000 - (50,000) - £2 00
Unapproved Options (1) 5,980 - (5,980) - £200
Unapproved Options (2) 490,092 - (490,092) - £220
Unapproved Options (2) 75,000 - (75,000) - £2 00
Unapproved Options 8,000 - (8,000) - £2 20
Unapproved Options (3) 1,178,837 - (1,178,837) - £0 06
Unapproved Options (3) 15,000 - (15,000) - £1 06
Total 2,324,877 - (2,324,877) -

Under the terms of the share purchase agreement between the company’s shareholders and Lab21 Limited,
all share options 1n i1ssue were terminated on the date of acquisition
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22.

23

24,

GUARANTEES

As explained in the Going Concern section n note 1, Lab21 Limited, the parent company, entered into a loan
facihty with Clydesdate Bank plc (“Clydesdale™) in June 2012 Under the terms of this agreement,
Clydesdale has been granted a first and only debenture compnising fixed and floating charges over all the
property, assets and undertaking (including uncalled capital) from time to time of Lab21 Limited as Borrower
and Lab21 Healthcare Limited, Microgen Bioproducts Limited and Myconostica Limited as Guarantors

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The group had no capital commitments as at 31 December 2011 (2010 - £ml)

Cash and cash equivalents (which are presented as a single class of assets on the face of the balance sheet)
comprise cash at bank and other short term highly hquid investments with a maturity of three months or less

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

2011 2010
£ £

Mimmum lease payments under operating leases
recognised 1n the income statement for the year 122,392 95,690

At the balance sheet date the group had outstanding commitments for future mmimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows

2011 2010

£ £

Within cne year 39,966 90,032
Between one and two years 4,327 51,922

44,293 141,954

Operating lease payments represent renials payable by the group n respect of property occupied by the group
and leased office equipment
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25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Trading transactions

During the year the group entered into the following transactions with related parties which are members of

the Lab 21 Limited group

Nature of Sales to related Purchases from

Related party transaction parties related parties
2011 2011

£ £

Lab21 Limited Goods and services - 1,500

—_—

Amounts owed by
related parties

Amounts owed to
related parties

2011 201

£ £

Lab21 Healthcare Limited Loan 375,000 -
Lab21 Limited Loan - 1,500
375,000 1,500

Sales of goods to related parties were made at arm’s length prices

Purchases were made at market price

discounted to reflect the quantity of goods purchased and the relationships between the parties

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash No guarantees have been given or
received No provisions have been made for doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related
parties

Remuneration of key management personnel

The remuneration of the directors of the group 1s set out below in aggregate for each of the categories
specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

Related party Nature of transaction 2011 2010

£ £
Directors Short term employee benefits 44,705 177,449
Directors Post-employment benefits 4,217 6,300
Directors Private health insurance - 1,818
Directors Termination benefits 41,250 -

90,172 185,567

At 31 December 2011, none of the directors received any share-based payments for their services to the
company (2010 - £ml)
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2011

Loss for the financial year (as previcusly reported)
Prior period adjustment (note 27)

Loss for the financial year (restated)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

2011 2010

{3,798,492) (1,892,519)
- (2,314)

(3,798,492) (1,894,833)

(3,798,492) (1,894,833)
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Note 2010
{Restated -
2011 note 26)
£ £
Assets
Property, plant and equapment 29 63,912 200,232
Intangible assets 30 251,170 367,755
Investments 31 540 540
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 32 - 479 561
Total non-current assets 315,622 1,048,088
Inventones 34 34,651 86,441
Trade and other receivables 35 464,286 207,957
Cash and cash equivalents 36 73,858 210924
Total current assets 572,795 595322
Total assets 888,417 1,643,410
Liabilitres
Borrowings 37 - (7,524}
Long-term provisions 39 (50.000) -
Other non-current liabihties 40 (87,116) (282.738)
Total non-current liabilities (137,116) (290.,262)
Borrowings 37 (8,704) (10,000}
Trade and other payables 38 (240,893) (212,012}
Total current liabilities (249.597) (222,012)
Total habilities (386,713) (512.274)
501,704 1,131,136
Net assets
Equity
fssued capital 21 106,547 102,547
Share premuum 8,725,411 8,725411
Reserves 3,165,060 -
Retained loss 42 (11,495314) (7,696,822
Total equity attributable to equsty holders 501,704 1,131,136

The financa! statements of Myconostica Limited, registered number 5693850, were approved by the Board of
Directors and authonised for 1ssue on 31 October 2012

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors
C, VA s
G D Mullis

Director
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2011

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year
Adyustments for
Depreciation 29
Amortisation 30
Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Impairment of intangible assets
Loss on sale of fixed assets

Finance income

Finance cost

Impairment of investment
Income tax expense

Operating loss before changes in working
capital and provisions

{Increase) decrease n trade and other
recervables

Decrease (increase) 1n inventories

Decrease 1n trade and other payables

Increase 1n provision

Cash generated by operations
Income tax credits receivable

Net cash outflow from operating activities

Investing activities

Interest recerved

Interest paid

Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of intangible assets
Intercompany loan

Net cash used 1n mvesting activities
Financing activittes

New loans

Repayment of borrowings

Net proceeds on 1ssue of shares

Repayment of obligatien under finance lease
Net cash generated from financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginming
of year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
year

2010
(Restated -
2011 note 26)
£ £
(3,798,492) (1,894,833)
63,006 88,117
33,146 51,387
73,908 -
90,760 -
164,668 -
(4,598) (12,991)
2,116,104 7,040
529,472 -
9,095 (194,558)
(887,599) (1,955,838)
(4,841} 9,529
51,790 (8,406)
(183,296) (29,134)
50,000 -
(973,946) (1,983,849)
214,415 312,256
(759,531) (1,671,593)
4,598 12,991
(1,634) (2,630)
(596) -
(7,321) (64,562)
(422,762) (54,619)
(427,715) (108,820)
1,055,000 -
(8,820) (11,433)
4,000 972,934
- (858)
1,050,180 960,643
(137,066) (819,770)
210,924 1,030,694
73,858 210,924
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2011

Balance at 1 January 2011
Prior period adjustment

Balance at 1 January 2011
(restated)

Loss for the financial year

Issued share capital

Share 1ss5ue cost

Capital contribution

Balance at 31 December 2011

Balance at 1 January 2010 (as
previously reported)
Prior period adjustment

Balance at 1 January 2010
(restated)

Loss for the financial year

[ssued share capital

Share 1ssue cost

Balance at 31 December 2010
(restated)

Note

27

21

Note

27

Share
Share premium Retamed
capital account Reserves loss Total
£ £ £ £ £
135,601 8,725,411 - (7,696,822) 1,164,190
(33,054) - - - (33,054)
102,547 8,725,411 (7,696,822) 1,131,136
- - - (3,798,492) (3,798,492)
4,000 - - - 4,000
- - 3,165,060 - 3,165,060
106,547 8,725,411 3,165,060 (11,495,314) 501,704
Share
Share premium Retained
capital account loss Total
£ £ £ £
126,178 7,761,909 (5,801,989) 2,086,089
(33,054) - - (33,054)
93,124 7,761,900 (5,801,989) 2,053,035
- - (1,894,833) (1,894,833)
9,423 990,587 - 1,000,010
- (27,076) - (27,076)
102,547  8,725411 (7,696,822) 1,131,136
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26.

27.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The separate financial statements of the company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 As
permitted by that Act, the separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis The principal accounting policies
adopted are the same as those set out 1n note 3 to the consolidated financial statements except as noted below

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment

RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR PERIOD

The financial statements include a prior period restatement 1n relation to the classification of the A Preference
Shares In prior periods, the A Preference shares were accounted for as a compound financial instrument,
which included both debt and equity components The cumulative 7% dividend was alsc split, on a pro rata
basis, between a dividend on the debt component (accounted for as a finance charge) and a dividend on the
equity component (accounted for directly through equuty)

Following the acquisition By Lab21 Limited 1n the year, the directors reviewed the accounting treatment of
the A Preference shares and concluded that they did not contamn an equity compenent

The resulting corrections to the prior periods are summarised 1n the fellowing tables

Consohidated balance sheet (extracts)

3 31 31
December December  December
2010 2010 2010
As reported Adjustment Restated
3 £ £
Other non-current habilities:
Shares classed as financial habilities (see note 21) (29,946) (33,054) (63,000)
Total non-current hablities (257,208) (33,054) (290,262)
Total habilities (479,220) (33,054) (512,274)
Net assets 1,164,190 (33,054) 1,131,136
Issued capital 135,601 (33,054) 102,547
Total equity attributable to equity holders year 1,164,190 (33,054) 1,131,136
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27. RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR PERIOD (continued)

Cash flow statement {extracts)

31 n 31

December December  December

2010 2019 2010

As reported Adjustment Restated

£ £ £

L.oss for the year (1,892,519) (2,314) (1,894,833)
Cash flows from operating activities:

Finance cost 4,726 2,314 7,040

28. COMPANY STATEMENT OF INCOME

Loss for the year

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the company has elected not to present its own
Statement of income for the year Myconostica Limited reported a loss for the year of £3,798,492 (2010 -

£1,894,833)

29. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
fixtures and
fittings,
office and
Laboratory computer
equipment  equipment Total
£ £ £
Cost
At 1 January 2010 and 1 January 2011 367,668 100,964 468,632
Additions - 595 595
Disposals (110,806) (101,559) (212,365)
At 31 December 2011 256,862 - 256,862
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2010 140,984 39,299 180,283
Charge for the year 73,534 14,583 88,117
At | January 2011 214,518 53,882 268,400
Charge for the year 58,760 4,246 63,006
Disposals (80,328) (58,128) (138,456)
At 31 December 2011 192,950 - 192,950
Carrymg amount
At 31 December 2011 63,912 - 63,912
At 31 December 2010 153,150 47,082 200,232

The net book value of furniture, fixtures and fittings, office and computer equipment includes an amount of
£ml (2010 - £1,480) held under finance leases The depreciation charge relating to finance leases 15 £nil
(2010 - £930)

During the year £33,603 leasehold improvements that had been classified as furniture, fixtures and fittings
were disposed of as part of the office relocation from Manchester to Cambridge A review of fixed assets
resulted 1n the disposal of £23,115 assets with a net book value less than £2,000 and £17,191 assets that were
unidentified or not 1n use

49




MYCONOSTICA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2011

30. [INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademark Product
Patents Licences registrations development Total
£ £ £ £ £

Cost
At | January 2010 167,334 263,197 37,708 27,247 495,486
Additions 15,647 23,970 446 24,499 64,562
At 1 January 2011 182,981 287,167 38,154 51,746 560,048
Additions 6,670 651 - - 7,321
Disposals - (152,576) - (51,746) (204,322)
At 31 December 201} 189,651 135,242 38,154 - 363,047
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2010 21,032 106,580 7,833 5,461 140,906
Charge for the year 6,642 32,079 3,292 9,374 51,387
At ] January 2011 27,674 138,659 11,125 14,835 192,293
Charge for the year 6,641 19,236 3,292 3,977 33,146
Disposals - (94,750) - (18,812) (113,562)
At 31 December 2011 34,315 63,145 14,417 - 111,877
Carrying amount
A1 31 December 2011 155,336 72,097 23,737 - 251.170
At 31 December 2010 155,307 148,508 27,029 36,911 367,755

Patents are amortised over their estinated useful lives, which currently are, on average, 5 vears (2010 - 6
years) Patent costs are only amortised once an application has been published At 31 December 2011 patent
costs amounting to £122,875 (2010 - £166,205) were not being amortised as the applications were awaiting

publication

Licences are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which currently are, on average, 7 years (2010 - 8
years) Licences relate to rights to utilise underlyng patent technology Licence costs are amortised over the
period to date of expiry of the underlying patents Where a licence relates to the period to several underlying
patents, unless the cost can be allocated to individual patents, costs are amortised over the period to date of

expwry of the first to expire patent

During the year annual licence fees with a net book value of £57,826 and development costs with a net book

value of £32,934 were charged to the profit and loss
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31.

32

33.

INVESTMENTS
Subsidiary
undertakings
£
Cost
At 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011 540
Provision for impairment
At | January 2011 and 31 December 2011 -
Net book value
At 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011 540

The company owns 100% of the commeon stock of Myconostica USA Inc , a US company incorporated in the
state of Delaware Myconostica USA Inc was established during 2008 to carry out the US operations of the
group The company also owns 100% of the 1ssued ordinary share capital of Myconostica Trustee Company
Limited, a company mncorporated in England and Wales Myconostica Trustee Company Lunited 1s a
dormant company

AMOUNT DUE FROM SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

2011 2010
£ £
Intercompany receivable - 479,561

At 31 December 2011, the intercompany receivable from Myconostica USA Inc , was £ml (2010 - £479,551)
and from Myconostica Trustee Company Limited, was £ml (2010 - £10)

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
At 31 December 2011 the company had an unprovided deferred tax asset

The following are the temporary differences for which the company has not recognised deferred tax due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams, based on the expected future tax rate for the company of 25%
(2010 - 21%)

2011 2010

£ £

Accelerated capital allowances 13,698 40,259
Tax value of short term timing differences (235) (42,007)
Tax value of UK tax losses carried forward (2,056,536) (1,061,502)

(2,043,073) (1,063,250)

As at 31 December 2011 the company has available for offset against future profits UK tax losses amounting
to £8,226,144 (2010 £5,054,773)
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34,

35.

INVENTORIES
2011 2010
£ £
Raw matenals 34,651 55,978
Work 1n progress - 2,627
Fintshed goods - 27,836
34,651 86,441
During 2011 £94,722 cost of mventory was recognised m cost of sales (2010 - £24,338)
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Trade and other receivables
2011 2010
£ £
Trade receivables 33,603 14,857
Other receivables 14,850 19,266
Prepayments 40,833 50,323
Research and development tax credits receivable - 213,511
Amounts due from group undertakings 375,000 -

464,286 297,957

As at 31 December 2011 the company had an allowance for doubtful debts amounting to £481 (2010 - £mil)

All trade and other receivables are short term, have a matunty of six months or less and are non-interest
bearing No disclosure of fair value 1s required as the carrying amount 1s a reasonable approximation of fair
value

The average credit period taken on sales of goods 15 39 days (2010 - 46 days) Ne nterest 1s charged on the
recervables Trade receivables that are past due are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts
determined by reference to past default experience or if there 1s an indication that the amount receivable may
be impaired

The company 1s exposed to credit risk from the granting of trade credit for sales to customers The company
mitigates this credit nisk by obtaiming payments 1n advance from customers or by the customer providing a
letter of credit as the method of payment

Included 1n the company’s trade receivables balance are debtors (see below for aged analysis) which are past
due at the reporting date for which the company has not provided as there has not been a sigmificant change
1n the credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable The company does not hold collateral
over these balances

Agemg of past due but not impaired receivables 1s as follows

2011 2010

£ 3 £

31-60 days 11,970 671
61-90 days 5,803 2,882
More than 90 days 9,850 1,433
27,623 4,986
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3s.

3e.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Bank balances and cash compnise cash held by the company and short term deposits with an original term
of three months or less and interest 1s calculated by reference to LIBOR The carrying amounts of these
assets approximates to thetr fair value As such no disclosure of fair value 1s required

Credit nsk

The credit risk on hquid funds and derivative financial mstruments 1s limited because the counterparty,
Santander UK plc, 1s a bank with a high credit rating

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Capital and liquidity risk management

The company manages 1ts capital to ensure that 1t will be able to continue as a going concern
Externally imposed capital requirement

The company 1s not subject to externally imposed caputal requirements

Categories of financial nstruments

2011 2010
£ £

Financial assets
Loans and receivables 423,453 34,123
Cash and cash equivalents 73,858 210,924

497,311 245,047

Financial habihties
Amortised cost 115,665 76,749

The directors consider that the carrymg amount of financial assets and financial habihities recorded at
amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values

Financial rnisk management objectives

Lab 21 Limited manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group, including Myconostica
Limited, through internal risk reports which analyse exposure to risk by hkehhood and magnitude

Exposure to foreign exchange rnisk and the use of financial instruments 1s monitored The company does not
enter into or trade financial mstruments, mcluding derivative financial instrumentis, for speculative purposes

Market risk

The company’s activities expose It primarily to the financial nisks of changes in foreign currency exchange
rates and interest rate risks The company does not use derivative financial instruments to manage its
exposure to interest rate risk Cash deposits are made with the company’s bankers at the market rates
prevailing at inception of the deposit for the period and currency concerned
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36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Foreign currency risk management

The company underiakes certamn transactions denominated in foreign currencies Hence, exposures to
exchange rate fluctuations anse Exchange rate exposures to US dollar and Euro exchange rates arc managed
by using US dollar and Euro denomnated bank accounts

The carrying amounts of the company’s foreign currency denomnated monetary assets and monetary
habilities at the reporting date are as follows

Liabilities Assets
2011 2010 2011 2010
£ £ £ £
US dollars 31,768 21,266 35,393 481,035
Euros 21,813 9,774 29432 15,990
53,581 31,040 64,825 497,025

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the company’s sensitivity analysis to a 10% mcrease in the value of sterling
aganst US dollars and the Euro 10% 1s the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign cunency risk
internally to management and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change n
foreign exchange rates A positive number below indicates an increase in profit, a negative number indicates
a reduction n profit

US dollars Euros
2011 2010 2011 2010
£ £ £ £
Profit or loss (330) (41,795) (693) (565)

The £41,795 currency exposure in 2010 was caused by the £479,561 mtercompany receivable with
Myconostica USA Inc  Thts balance was waived 1in 2011

The company 1s not materially exposed to changes in exchange rates
Interest rate sk management

The company 1s not exposed to interest rate risk as it had no interest bearing financial habilittes at either
balance sheet date The company receives interest on its cash and cash equivalents

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibihity for hiquidity risk management rests with the Lab 21 Limited board of directors, which
has built an appropriate hquidity risk management framework for the management of the company’s short,
medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements The company manages Liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and habilities

Liquidity and interest risk tables
At 31 December 20! 1 and 31 December 2010 the company had no interest bearing financial habilities
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37

38.

BORROWINGS
2011 2010
£ £
Secured borrowing
Allance & Leicester Small Firms Guarantee Scheme Loan 8,704 17,524
Total borrowings
Amount due for settlement within 12 months 8,704 10,000
Amount due for settlement after 12 months - 7,524

In September 2007 the company entered into a loan agreement with the Alhance & Leicester Bank under the
Small Firms Guarantee Scheme The total facility, subject to the company achieving certain commercial
milestones, was £250,000 and as at 31 December 2011 (and 31 December 20i0) £50,000 had been borrowed,
with £8,704 outstanding at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010 £17,524) As secunty the Alhance &
Leicester has registered a Debenture with a fixed and floating charge over the company’s assets The
Alhance & Leicester facility expired on 8 May 2009 without the company achieving the commercial
mulestones to allow any further drawdowns although the sums already drawn down did not become repayable
on demand

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

2011 2010

£ £

Trade creditors 106,961 59,225
Amounts due to group undertakings 2,147 640
Other taxes and social secunity 4,000 65,304
Corporation tax 10,000 -
Accruals and deferred income 116,473 86,843
Other creditors 1,312 -

240,893 212,012

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and on-going
costs The average credit period taken for trade purchases 1s 92 days (2010 - 23 days) and these are non-
interest bearing

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value, as such no
disclosure of fair value 1s required
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39.

40,

41.

PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES

Dilapidations

provision

£000

At 1 January 2011 -
Additional provision n the year 56,000

At 31 December 2011 50,000

The dilapidations provision relates to obligations to make good dilapidations existing at 31 December 2011
It 15 expected that the related cash outflows will be incurred in the next financial year

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

2010

{Restated -

2011 note 26)

£ £

Accruals - 200,032
Cumulative dividend payable in ‘A’ preference shares 24,116 19,706
Shares classed as financial liabilities (see note 21) 63,000 63,000

87,116 282,738

Non-current accruals £mi (2010 £200,032) represent amounts payable 1n more than two years bul not more
than five years under the terms of various patent licences and a bonus accrual payable to a director

The cumulative dividend on “A’ preference shares 1s payable on 7 July 2015 or, if earher, on a date of a
change 1 controlling interest or listing (on a recognised investment exchange) of the company’s shares

SHARE CAPITAL

The movements on these items are disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements
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42.

43.

44

RETAINED EARNINGS
£

Balance at 31 December 2009 (5,801,989)
Loss for the financial year (restated - note 27) (1,894,833)
Balance at 31 December 2010 (7,696,822)
Loss for the financial year (3,798,492)
Balance at 31 December 2011 (11,495,314)
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The company had no capital commitments as at 31 December 2011 (2010 - £mil)

Cash and cash equivalents (which are presented as a single class of assets on the face of the balance sheet)
comprise cash at bank and other short term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

2011 2010
£ £

Mmimum lease payments under operating leases
recognised i the income statement for the year 93,328 73,127

At the balance sheet date the company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows

2011 2010

£ £

Within one year 39,966 78,753
Between one and two years 4,327 40,642

44,293 119,395

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the company in respect of property occupied by the
company and leased office equipment
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Trading transactions
During the year the company entered tnto the following transactions with related parties who are members of
the Lab 21 Limited group
Related party Nature of Purchases from related
transaction Sales to related parties parties
2011 2010 2011 2010
£ £ £ £
Lab21 Limited Goods and services - - 1,500 -
Myconostica USA Inc Goods and services 45,918 - - -
43918 - 1,500 -
In additien, Myconostica Limited charged £4,003 (2010 - £10,674) nterest to Myconostica Inc and fully
impaired the £529,472 (2010 - £ml) receivable balance from Myconostica Inc
During the year, Myconostica Limited loaned £n1] (2010 - £54,620) of cash to Myconostica USA Inc
Amounts owed by related Amounts owed to
parties related parties
2011 2010 2011 2010
£ £ £ £
Lab21 Healthcare
Limted Loan 375,000 - - -
Lab21 Limited Loan - - 1,500 -
Myconostica USA Inc Loan - 479,551 647 640
Myconostica Trustee
Company Limited Loan - 10 - -
375,000 479,561 2,147 640
Sales of goods to related parties were made at arm’s length prices Purchases were made at market price
discounted to reflect the quantity of goods purchased and the relationships between the parties
The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash No guarantees have been given or
recetved No provisions have been made for doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related
parties
46. ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY
The company 1s a subsidiary undertaking of Lab 21 Limited, a company incorporated in England & Wales
The largest and smallest group n which the results of the company are consolidated s that headed by Lab 21
Limited The consolidated accounts of Lab 21 Limited are available to the public and may be obtaned from
184 Cambridge Science Park, Cambridge, CB4 0GA
47. CONTROLLING PARTY
In the opinion of the directors, there 1s no single ulumate controlling party
48. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The products business was transferred to Lab 21 Healthcare Limited on 1 January 2012
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